No.

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 75913-2-1)

## FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner,

v.

# BARCLAYS CAPITAL, INC., BCAP LLC, and BARCLAYS BANK PLC,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric D. Miller, WSBA No. 45214 PERKINS COIE LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 Telephone: 206.359.8000 Facsimile: 206.359.9000

Diana S. Breaux, WSBA No. 46112 YARMUTH WILSDON PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98101

David J. Grais (pro hac vice pending) GRAIS & ELLSWORTH LLP 950 Third Avenue, 24<sup>th</sup> Floor New York, NY 10022

Attorneys for Petitioner
Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI

#### INTRODUCTION

Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle (Seattle Bank) sued Barclays Capital, Inc., an investment bank, under the Washington State Securities Act (WSSA) for making untrue or misleading statements of material fact in connection with its sale to Seattle Bank of hundreds of millions of dollars of residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS). Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment dismissing Seattle Bank's complaint because, in its view, the WSSA requires a plaintiff to prove that it reasonably relied on the untrue or misleading statements in deciding to buy the security that the defendant sold. There is no dispute that Seattle Bank relied on the statements that Barclays made to it. But. Division One concluded, it was unreasonable as a matter of law for Seattle Bank to do so, even though, when Barclays solicited Seattle Bank to buy RMBS, it represented that it always made an exhaustive "due diligence" investigation to ensure that its offering documents contained no untrue or misleading statements, and Barclays made those statements in offering documents that it was required to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission because it was offering the RMBS to the investing public.

This is the fifth time since 2004 that Division One has engrafted a reasonable reliance requirement onto the WSSA. The first four times, it did so based on a single sentence in a 1990 decision of this Court in a case

in which the issue of reliance was not before the Court. This time, the Court of Appeals explained its reasoning in imposing a reasonable reliance requirement. But that reasoning is in direct conflict with two fundamental precepts of this Court's jurisprudence under the WSSA: that the WSSA is a strict-liability statute, not a statutory version of a common-law action for fraud, and that the WSSA is to be interpreted liberally to protect investors. Moreover, Division One has put Washington into a small minority of only five other states that impose a reliance requirement in their counterparts to the WSSA. Twenty other states have rejected a reliance requirement, nine of them in decisions of the state's highest court.

The decision below conflicts with many decisions of this Court and involves an issue of substantial public interest in the protection of investors in Washington. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). That decision warrants review and correction by this Court.

#### **IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER**

The petitioner is Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle. In May 2015, it was merged into Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines, but the caption of this action was not amended.

#### DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

On December 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals, Division One, issued a published decision affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissing Seattle Bank's complaint in its entirety. Fed. Home

Loan Bank of Seattle v. Barclays Cap., Inc., 406 P.3d 686 (2017).<sup>1</sup>

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether, in an action under the WSSA, RCW 21.20.010(2),<sup>2</sup> the plaintiff must prove not only that the defendant made an untrue or misleading statement of a material fact in connection with its sale of a security to the plaintiff, but also that the plaintiff reasonably relied on the untrue or misleading statement in deciding to buy the security.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Residential mortgage-backed securities

This is one of hundreds of actions by investors in RMBS against the investment banks that created and sold trillions of dollars of such securities from 2004 to 2008. RMBS are not backed by the promise of an entity such as a corporation to pay principal and interest to their holders. Rather, they are backed only by payments that borrowers make on discrete groups of mortgage loans, SCP 15530, 23608. If those borrowers fall be-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On the same day, Division One issued an unpublished decision, also affirming a grant of summary judgment in a very similar case, Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, which, Division One wrote, was controlled by its decision in this case. Seattle Bank is concurrently petitioning for review of the decision in Credit Suisse and respectfully suggests that the Court consider its two petitions together.

<sup>2</sup> RCW 21.20.010(2) makes it "unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any security, directly or indirectly: . . . To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading."

hind in their mortgage payments, and if those payments are not enough to make the promised payments to investors in an RMBS, then the investors will suffer losses because no entity is required to make good the shortfall. SCP 15521, 23598. Sellers of RMBS make detailed statements in their offering documents about the credit quality of the specific mortgage loans that back the securities. SCP 15532–15536, 15538–15542, 15627–15636, 23610–23614, 23616–23620. These statements are material to investors in RMBS because payments on those mortgage loans are the sole source of payments to investors. SCP 14310, 14315–14316, 15530, 23608.

To sell the RMBS it creates, an investment bank solicits investors like Seattle Bank. CP 1974. The investment bank sends potential investors various preliminary offering documents and then the final offering document, called a prospectus supplement. CP 1974–1975. The content of prospectus supplements is minutely prescribed by the SEC.<sup>3</sup> Under federal law, before it can sell an RMBS, an investment bank must both deliver the prospectus supplement to potential investors and also file it with the SEC so it is available to the investing public at large.<sup>4</sup> Both may be done by uploading the prospectus supplement to the SEC's website.

<sup>3</sup> SEC Regulation AB, 17 C.F.R. § 229.1100 et seq

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 5(b)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77e(b)(2), makes it "unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly-... to carry or cause to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce any such security for the purpose of sale or for delivery after

Barclays sold Seattle Bank four RMBS, two of which are involved here. Barclays sold Seattle Bank one of the RMBS on February 13, 2008, for \$189.4 million and the other on April 15, 2008, for \$232.4 million.

B. The untrue or misleading statements that Barclays made to Seattle Bank; Seattle Bank's action against Barclays under the WSSA

Seattle Bank alleged that Barclays made untrue or misleading statements about the underwriting of the mortgage loans that backed the RMBS and the amount of equity that borrowers had in their homes. The two RMBS involved here were backed by 1,643 loans that Barclays purchased from IndyMac Bank to create these two RMBS. SCP 15532, 23610. IndyMac, in turn, had either made those mortgage loans or purchased them from other lenders. In its prospectus supplements, Barclays stated that the loans were made in accordance with specified underwriting standards. CP 1554, 1564. Such statements are material to investors like Seattle Bank because the credit quality of mortgage loans — and therefore the safety of an RMBS that they back — depends on whether the lenders followed their own guidelines in making the loans. SCP 12381–12385.

The amount of equity that borrowers have in their homes is measured by the loan-to-value ratio – that is, the ratio of the amounts of the mortgage loans to the values of the properties that secured those loans. An

sale, unless accompanied or preceded by a prospectus that meets the requirements of subsection (a) of section 10" of that Act.

appraisal of the mortgaged property often provides the denominator in the loan-to-value ratio. In its prospectus supplements, Barclays stated that the appraisals of the mortgaged properties were made in accordance with the national standards of the appraisal profession: "To determine the adequacy of the property to be used as collateral, an appraisal is generally made of the subject property in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Profession[al] Appraisal Practice." CP 1555, 1566. Such statements are material to investors in RMBS because loan-to-value ratios are a critical factor in the credit quality of mortgage loans, and compliance with professional appraisal standards helps to ensure that the ratios are accurate.

Seattle Bank's complaint alleged that the statements described above were untrue or misleading because many of the mortgage loans were not made in accordance with the stated underwriting guidelines and many of the appraisals were not made in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.

C. Division One determined that Seattle Bank's reliance on the untrue or misleading statements was unreasonable as a matter of law.

There is no dispute that Seattle Bank relied on the statements discussed above in deciding to purchase the two RMBS from Barclays. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When a mortgage loan is used to purchase a house, the appraisal provides the denominator if the appraised value is lower than the purchase price of the house. When a mortgage loan is used to refinance an earlier mortgage loan, the appraisal always provides the denominator because there is no purchase price.

Court of Appeals nevertheless affirmed a grant of summary judgment to

Barclays because it determined that it was unreasonable as a matter of law

for Seattle Bank to rely on those statements.

Division One based its conclusion on various factors, principally that, by early 2008, Seattle Bank was concerned about the deteriorating real estate market and its implications for RMBS, Decision at 16-18, and that "FHLBS was deeply involved in selecting the loans originated by IndyMac that ultimately constituted the two securities that the bank purchased," *id.* at 18. (Although Division One cited the record extensively to support its other findings, it cited nothing to support this one.)

The court did not address other factors, any one of which was sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to the reasonableness of Seattle Bank's reliance. Among them were:

- When Barclays solicited Seattle Bank, it touted the thoroughness of its due diligence to ensure that its offering documents would contain no untrue or misleading statements. CP 4583-4586.
- Barclays made the statements in offering documents that it was required to file with the SEC, and in those documents Barclays advised investors that "[y]ou should rely *only* on the information contained in this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement." CP 4270, 4275 (emphasis added).

- With access to the files on the 1,643 mortgage loans that backed the RMBS, Barclays conducted extensive due diligence about the underwriting of those loans. Barclays sent the results of its due diligence to IndyMac, but never to Seattle Bank. CP 4949, 4969, 5024, 5026.
- Seattle Bank had no access to those loan files. CP 4294,
   4298, 4300, 4304, 4308, 4320.
- Barclays and IndyMac chose the loans to back the RMBS.
  Seattle Bank did not choose a single loan. CP 3044, 4890, 4895, 4918,
  4921, 4947, 4951, 5033, 5040.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. This Court should clarify that it did not intend to create a reasonable reliance requirement by a single sentence in 1990.

Division One first injected a reasonable reliance requirement into the WSSA in two nearly simultaneous decisions in 2004, *Guarino v. Interactive Objects, Inc.*, 122 Wn. App. 95, 86 P.3d 1175 (2004), and *Stewart v. Estate of Steiner*, 122 Wn. App. 258, 93 P.3d 919 (2004). In both, it did so with nothing more than a citation to the italicized phrase in the following sentence of this Court's decision in *Hines v. Data Line Systems*, *Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127, 134, 787 P.2d 8, 12 (1990):

The [defendants] argue that before they can be liable under RCW 21.20.010, the investors must establish that defendants' misrepresentations were the proximate reason for their investments' decline in value. We disagree. The investments'

tors need only show that the misrepresentations were material and that they relied on the misrepresentations in connection with the sale of the securities.

Guarino, 122 Wn. App. at 109, 86 P.3d at 1182; Stewart, 122 Wn. App. at 260 & n.1, 264 & n.7, 93 P.3d at 920 & n.1, 922 & n.7. In two more decisions before the present one, Division One either simply assumed that proof of reasonable reliance was required, Helenius v. Chelius, 131 Wn. App. 421, 120 P.3d 954 (2005), or again said so with just a citation to Hines and its own decision in Stewart, FutureSelect Portfolio Mgt., Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 840, 868 & n.67, 309 P.3d 555, 569 & n.67 (2013), aff'd, 180 Wn.2d 954, 331 P.3d 29 (2014). For two reasons, Division One should have realized that this Court did not intend by that one sentence to impose a reasonable reliance requirement.

First, the issue of reliance was not before this Court in *Hines*, so its observation about reliance was dictum. *Hines* did not involve a question of reliance, and the quoted passage appeared in a section of the Court's opinion about the elements of loss and loss causation. 114 Wn.2d at 134-35, 787 P.2d at 12-13. The investor plaintiffs assumed that they had to prove transaction causation, which is the same as reliance. In their brief, they wrote that "at the very most, Investors here will have to demonstrate at trial a causal nexus not between [the CEO's] aneurysms [which were not disclosed in the offering documents] and [the company]'s demise, but <u>be-</u>

tween Respondent's failure to disclose material facts and Investors' decision to purchase the stock." (Emphasis in original.) What the investor plaintiffs disputed was whether they also had to prove that the untrue or misleading statements were the cause of their loss. This Court, of course, decided that they did not. In its reading of this Court's opinion, the Court of Appeals disregarded the principle that "general expressions in every opinion are to be confined to the facts then before the court and are to be limited in their relation to the case then decided and to the points actually involved." Waremart, Inc. v. Progressive Campaigns, Inc., 139 Wn.2d 623, 647, 989 P.2d 524, 536 (1999) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Second, by the time Division One decided *Guarino* and *Stewart* in 2004, this Court had decided six cases under the WSSA, all in lengthy opinions and all in favor of the investor-plaintiffs. It is inconceivable that this Court intended to make a major decision under the WSSA – let alone one that narrowed the protection of investors – in one sentence. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Brief of Appellants in *Hines* at 62, attached as Appendix II to Barclays's brief to Division One (emphasis in original). The investors said so again in their reply brief. "Investors contend that they need only show 'transaction causation,' i.e., that the omission was a substantial contributive factor in their decision to purchase the stock." Reply Brief of Appellants in *Hines* at 18, attached as Appendix I to Barclays's brief to Division One.

<sup>7</sup> They wrote in their assignments of error: "Causation: . . . Must an injured investor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> They wrote in their assignments of error: "Causation: ... Must an injured investor prove that the specific fact or facts omitted from the offering materials directly caused the security to become worthless?" Brief of Appellants in *Hines* at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Cellular Eng'g, Ltd. v. O'Neill, 118 Wn.2d 16, 820 P.2d 941 (1991); Hoffer v. State, 113 Wn.2d 148, 776 P.2d 963 (1989); Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 755 P.2d 781 (1988); Haberman v. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987); Kittilson v. Ford, 93 Wn.2d 223, 608 P.2d 264 (1980); Clausing v DeHart, 83 Wn.2d 70, 515 P.2d 982 (1973).

Court, like Congress, "does not . . . hide elephants in mouseholes." Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass'ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468, 121 S. Ct. 903 (2001).

II. The decision of Division One conflicts with this Court's settled doctrine that section (2) of the WSSA is a strict-liability statute.

In its previous four decisions, Division One misconstrued the one sentence in *Hines*. The reasoning in its present decision conflicts with a fundamental principle of this Court's jurisprudence under the WSSA, that section (2) of the WSSA is a strict-liability statute. To Division One, the WSSA is just a statutory version of a common-law action for fraud.

#### A. The statutory background

When the Legislature enacted the WSSA in 1959, there were (and still are) two federal laws against making an untrue or misleading statement of material fact in connection with the sale of a security. The first was section 12(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 771(2) (since renumbered 12(a)(2) but referred to here by its original number). It states:

Any person who... offers or sells a security... by means of... an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading... shall be liable... to the person purchasing such security from him, who may sue either at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon, less than the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages if he no longer owns the security.

.

(Emphasis added.) As countless courts agree, Section 12(2) creates a strict liability cause of action. Actions under it require no proof of scienter, reliance, loss, or loss causation, all elements of common-law fraud. As Division One acknowledges, "[i]t is undisputed that Section 12(2) of the 1933 Act created a strict liability cause of action." Decision at 13.

The second federal law in effect in 1959 was the combination of section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, which the SEC promulgated in 1942 by authority of section 10(b). Section 10(b) states that:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, ... [t]o use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security ... any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of [SEC] rules.

Following the language of section 12(2) exactly, Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful to "make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading."

When the Legislature enacted the WSSA in 1959, it also followed the language of section 12(2) (and Rule 10b-5) exactly:

It is unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any security, directly or indirectly: ...

(2) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

RCW 21.20.010(2). (The full texts of all the provisions discussed here are set forth in the Appendix.)

### B. The reasoning of Division One is flawed.

Even though Division One agrees that "Section 12(2) of the 1933

Act created a strict liability cause of action," Decision at 13, and even though this Court has held that the WSSA was modeled on section 12(2), still Division One rejects the contention "that the legislature intended WSSA actions to be strict liability actions." *Id.* According to Division One, all that the Legislature took from section 12(2) was its private right of action. The "liability provisions" of the WSSA, on the other hand, the Legislature took from Rule 10b-5. *Id.* 

Division One reasons to this conclusion in six steps. *First*, the language of RCW 21.20.010 is the same as the language of Rule 10b-5. Decision at 7. *Second*, the words "reasonable reliance" do not appear in Rule 10b-5 or in RCW 21.20.010. *Id.* at 8. *Third*, the United States Supreme Court has long required proof of reliance in actions under Rule 10b-5, starting with its decision in *Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder*, 425 U.S. 185, 96 S. Ct. 1375 (1976). *Id.* at 8 n.17. *Fourth*, when a court interprets a statute, "that interpretation controls what the statute has always meant." *Id.* at 8.

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