FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/9/2018 3:08 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95436-4 Court of Appeals No. 75913-2-I

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner,

v.

# BARCLAYS CAPITAL INC.; BCAP LLC; and BARCLAYS BANK PLC,

Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S.

Louis D. Peterson, WSBA #5776 Brian C. Free, WSBA #35788 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 623-1745

### SHEARMAN & STERLING LLP

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Washington State Securities Act ("WSSA") requires a private investor to plead and prove that it reasonably relied on alleged misstatements and omissions in purchasing securities. Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle's ("FHLBS") petition for review should be denied because the Court of Appeals simply applied this well-established requirement. FHLBS cannot point to any decision by this Court or the Court of Appeals that deviates from this settled law. Indeed, Washington courts have consistently and correctly confirmed that reliance is an element of the WSSA for nearly 50 years. Further, FHLBS's suggestion that this Court's precedent is wrong is simply unfounded in light of the WSSA's legislative history, and the fact that the Washington Legislature has amended the WSSA on several occasions over the last 50 years without changing the reasonable reliance requirement. Similarly baseless is FHLBS's contention that the reasonable reliance element should be read out of the WSSA because it purportedly conflicts with this Court's general statements that the purpose of the WSSA is to protect investors.

Nor does this case present an unsettled legal issue of public importance that should be resolved by the Court. It is simply an unremarkable example of a case where the losing litigant is unhappy with a court's correct application of well-established law to particular facts.

This Court should deny the petition and decline FHLBS's request for further review.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In the run-up to the financial crisis that began in 2007, FHLBS was one of the most sophisticated and voracious RMBS investors, amassing a portfolio of \$8 billion worth of RMBS, including several RMBS backed by non-prime "Alt-A" mortgages. (CP 1618.) FHLBS made two of its last RMBS investments in February and April 2008 from Barclays—well after the housing and mortgage markets had embarked on a steep downward descent and at a point when the rest of its sister banks, and much of the market, had stopped purchasing such RMBS entirely. (CP 8, 38-39, 579-80, 3694-98.)

After the crash, FHLBS filed lawsuits against the underwriters of its investments, alleging virtually identical claims: that the securities underwriters "materially understated the risk" of the RMBS that FHLBS purchased. (CP 30 (¶ 76), 51 (¶ 137).)

During the five years of fact and expert discovery in the coordinated cases, the parties produced millions of pages of documents, deposed and defended over 100 fact witnesses, and collectively submitted over 90 expert reports. The evidence confirmed that FHLBS was at the epicenter of the burgeoning mortgage crisis and was well aware of the

very issues about which it now claims to have been deceived regarding allegedly inflated appraisals (and resulting understated loan-to-value ratios) and departures from underwriting guidelines in connection with the origination of the loans backing the RMBS it purchased.

King County Superior Court Judge Laura Inveen granted Barclays' motion for summary judgment, ruling correctly that FHLBS could not prove that it reasonably relied on any alleged misrepresentation made by Barclays when deciding to purchase these certificates.

Appeals: (i) whether the trial court erred in holding that reasonable reliance is an element of a claim for rescission under the WSSA that plaintiffs must plead and prove; and (ii) whether the trial court erred in deciding that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to its reasonable reliance. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court on both issues, based on well-established precedent and legislative history, as well as its *de novo* review of the extensive trial court record.

FHLBS now petitions this Court for review, requesting that the Court reverse decades of precedent and remove the reasonable reliance element from the WSSA. Notably, FHLBS does not appeal the Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> FHLBS has also petitioned this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's entry of summary judgment for Credit Suisse, on the same basis.

Appeals' determination that FHLBS did not reasonably rely on any alleged misrepresentations. Faced with the Court of Appeals' conclusion that FHLBS was not misled in connection with its RMBS investments, FHLBS now asks this Court to alter Washington law in order to allow FHLBS to rescind RMBS investments it chose to make during the financial crisis.

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- I. Review Should Not Be Granted Because the Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with Washington WSSA Jurisprudence.
  - A. This Court has confirmed that a WSSA claim requires a showing of reasonable reliance.

This Court held in *Hines v. Data Line Systems, Inc.* that to establish a claim under the WSSA, a plaintiff must demonstrate that it "relied on . . . misrepresentations in connection with the sale of the securities." 114 Wn.2d 127, 134, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) (emphasis added). More recently, in *Go2Net, Inc. v. Freeyellow.com, Inc.*, this Court held that the jury's findings—which included plaintiff's reliance on a material misrepresentation or omission—established a violation of the WSSA. 158 Wn.2d 247, 251, 143 P.3d 590 (2006).

FHLBS attempts to ignore the clear import of these decisions by mischaracterizing the *Hines* holding regarding reliance as mere "dictum." FHLBS is wrong. *Hines* presented this Court with the

question of what elements must be proven to prevail on a WSSA claim. The parties in that case disagreed about whether plaintiffs needed to only show transaction causation (i.e., that plaintiff relied on the alleged misrepresentations in entering into the transaction<sup>2</sup>)—or had to prove both transaction causation/reliance and loss causation (i.e., that the alleged misrepresentations were the proximate cause of plaintiff's alleged losses).<sup>3</sup> While this Court declined to require loss causation, it made clear that reliance is an element of a WSSA claim. See Hines, 114 Wn.2d at 134 (stating that under the WSSA, investors must "show that the misrepresentations were material and that they relied on the misrepresentations in connection with the sale of the securities"). This Court further concluded that the undisputed facts in *Hines* "substantiate[d] that each investor relied on [the challenged] statements." *Id*. Thus, this Court affirmed in no uncertain terms that reliance is an element of a WSSA claim.

Even if the Court's ruling in *Hines* could be characterized as dictum, this Court's review is unwarranted here because there is no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005) (noting that reliance is often referred to as "transaction causation").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Brief for Appellants at 58-65, *Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127 (No. 20506-4-I) (attached as Appendix I to Respondents' Brief to the Court of Appeals below); see also Brief for Respondents at 31-34, *Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127 (No. 20506-4-I) (attached as Appendix II to Respondents' Brief to the Court of Appeals below).

conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion below and this Court's precedent. Rule 13.4 permits discretionary review where the Court of Appeals decision *conflicts with* a decision of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Here, there is no inconsistency (much less a conflict) between *Hines* and the Court of Appeals decision. FHLBS cannot create the required decisional conflict simply by arguing that this Court must have intended to say the exact opposite of what it so clearly stated in *Hines*.

Nor can FHLBS manufacture a conflict by claiming that a reasonable reliance requirement is at odds with this Court's WSSA jurisprudence concerning other elements of, and defenses to, WSSA claims. For example, FHLBS makes much of this Court's holding in *Go2Net*, where this Court rejected the defendant's equitable defenses of waiver and estoppel based on its assessment that permitting those defenses would undermine the WSSA's purpose of protecting investors. But this Court's reasoning—that the seller of securities should not be permitted to "avoid statutory liability by shifting the focus [from his presale misrepresentations and omissions] to the postsale conduct of the uninformed investor"—is inapplicable to the reasonable reliance requirement. *Go2Net*, 158 Wn.2d at 254. First, the reasonable reliance inquiry does not focus on an investor's postsale conduct but on its *presale* knowledge and expectations. Second, because the reasonable reliance

element takes into account what an investor knows (or should know based on the information available to it), it does not affect investors who are uninformed about the alleged misrepresentations. FHLBS is seeking to change the law in order to avoid the fact that, as noted by the Court of Appeals, it was one of the most sophisticated participants in the RMBS market and possessed extensive knowledge of the very matters about which it later claimed to have been misled. *See Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Barclays Capital, Inc.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 551, 565-73, 406 P.3d 686 (2017).

Similarly, this Court's holdings that scienter and loss causation—both elements of Rule 10b-5 claims—are not required under the WSSA do not conflict with the holding that reliance is an element of a WSSA claim. Washington courts have expressly struck those other two elements, but confirmed repeatedly that reasonable reliance *is* required under the WSSA. Scienter and loss causation were rejected as elements of WSSA claims for specific reasons related to amendments to the statute, and legislative history, that are inapplicable to the separate reliance requirement.

This Court held that scienter is not an element under the WSSA in *Kittilson v. Ford.* 93 Wn.2d 223, 225, 608 P.2d 264 (1980). *Kittilson* considered the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Ernst* 

& Ernst v. Hochfelder, which held that scienter is an element of a Rule 10b-5 claim. 425 U.S. 185, 201 (1976). This Court focused on the fact that Hochfelder was not based on the text of Rule 10b-5, but was instead based upon language from the Rule's enabling statute, Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which was not included in Rule 10b-5.

Id. at 212-14. Furthermore, the WSSA had been amended, after Hochfelder, to remove the terms "fraud" and "misrepresentation" from the statute. Kittilson, 93 Wn.2d at 226-27. Thus, in Kittilson, this Court held that scienter is not an element under the WSSA—reasoning that Hochfelder is "inapplicable to our Securities Act"—because "the 'manipulative or deceptive' language of section 10(b) of the 1934 act [from which the scienter requirement is derived] is not included in the Washington act [and] . . . no legislative history similar or analogous to Congressional legislative history exist[ed] in Washington." Id. at 226.

Similarly unfounded is FHLBS's suggestion that this

Court's holding in *Hines* that the WSSA does not require proof of *loss*causation should be interpreted to suggest that the WSSA does not require reasonable reliance. In fact, *Hines* held the exact opposite—that investors must show "that they relied on the misrepresentations" even though the WSSA does not require a showing that the "misrepresentations were the proximate reason for their investments' decline in value." *Hines*, 114

Wn.2d at 134-35. In contrast to reasonable reliance, loss causation is not an element of the WSSA because, as this Court explained, the statutory remedy for a WSSA violation is rescission, *see* RCW 21.20.430, which permits "an investor who is wrongfully induced to purchase a security [to] recover his investment without any requirement of showing a decline in the value of the stock." *Id.* at 135.

B. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any other Washington court opinions, all of which confirm that a WSSA claim requires a showing of reasonable reliance.

Consistent with this Court's decisions in *Hines* and *Go2Net*, every court in this State that has considered whether reliance is an element of a WSSA claim has held that it is. *See, e.g., FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt. Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc.*, 175 Wn. App. 840, 867-68, 309 P.3d 555 (2013) ("To establish a claim under the WSSA, an investor must prove that . . . [he] relied on those misrepresentations or omissions. Such reliance must be reasonable under the surrounding circumstances."); *Helenius v. Chelius*, 131 Wn. App. 421, 439 n.22, 120 P.3d 954 (2005) (referring to "reasonable reliance on a misrepresentation" as part of plaintiff's "prima facie claim" under the WSSA); *Guarino v. Interactive Objects, Inc.*, 122 Wn. App. 95, 109, 86 P.3d 1175 (2004) ("The WSSA also requires reliance upon the alleged misrepresentations or

omissions."); *Stewart v. Estate of Steiner*, 122 Wn. App. 258, 264, 93 P.3d 919 (2004) (describing reasonable reliance as an "essential element to prove a claim under the WSSA"); *Shermer v. Baker*, 2 Wn. App. 845, 858, 472 P.2d 589 (1970) (holding that to establish liability under the WSSA, the plaintiff must show that it "relied upon the misrepresentation or omission of a material fact"). 4

The Court of Appeals below followed this unbroken string of precedent, again confirming that reasonable reliance is an element of a WSSA claim. In a unanimous decision authored by Judge Cox and joined by Judges Spearman and Schindler, the Court of Appeals concluded that "the state legislature enacted RCW 21.20.010(2)[, the relevant WSSA liability provision,] with the intent that it be construed in the same way as Rule 10b-5 and have the same interpretation as federal case law of that rule. In short, reasonable reliance is a necessary element of this state claim." *Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Barclays Capital, Inc.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 559. The Court of Appeals found "telling" the fact "that since Washington courts began recognizing a reliance requirement in 1970, the legislature has amended the WSSA eight times" without once

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See also Graham-Bingham Irrevocable Trust v. John Hancock Life Ins. Co. USA, 827 F. Supp. 2d 1275, 1284 (W.D. Wash. 2011) ("To establish a claim under the WSSA, an investor must prove . . . [it] relied on those misrepresentations or omissions."); Moore v. Thornwater Co. LP, No. C01-1944C, 2006 WL 1423535, at \*6 (W.D. Wash. May 23, 2006) (noting that "reliance must be reasonable to prove a WSSA violation").

"modify[ing] the requirement that reliance is a required element." *Id.* at 559-60. The Court of Appeals further noted that "in no case has any Washington court departed from this interpretation of the statute," which "has been consistently stated by the state [S]upreme [C]ourt and other appellate courts of this state." *Id.* at 560.

This Court previously denied the petition to review the Court of Appeals 2004 *Stewart v. Estate of Steiner* decision, authored by Judge Cox, in which the Court of Appeals held, based on *Hines*, that a plaintiff suing under the WSSA must show reasonable reliance on the alleged misrepresentations. *Stewart v. Steiner*, 153 Wn.2d 1022, 108 P.3d 1229 (Table) (Mar. 1, 2005). The Court should again decline the invitation to cast aside almost 50 years of consistent precedent holding that reasonable reliance is an element of a WSSA claim.

# C. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with jurisprudence concerning the purpose of the WSSA.

FHLBS's last-ditch attempt to create a judicial conflict is to argue that the reasonable reliance requirement is philosophically inconsistent with general statements that Washington courts have purportedly made about the WSSA and its purpose. In so doing, FHLBS asks the Court to disregard almost 50 years of clear and consistent

precedent based on mischaracterizations and *dicta* that do not, in any event, conflict with this Court's holdings.

There is no conflict between a reasonable reliance requirement and jurisprudence that FHLBS claims characterizes the WSSA as a "strict liability" statute. As an initial matter, FHLBS does not point to any express statements by a Washington court that the WSSA is a "strict liability" statute. FHLBS's contention is based entirely on its argument that the WSSA was modeled after Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and that Section 12(a)(2) calls for strict liability. (Pet. at 10-11.) As discussed below, however, FHLBS is wrong; the substantive liability provision of the WSSA, RCW 21.20.010, was plainly modeled after SEC Rule 10b-5. The cases cited by FHLBS about similarities between Section 12(a)(2) and the WSSA discuss only the remedial section of the WSSA, RCW 21.20.430, which has no bearing on whether RCW 21.20.010 provides for strict liability.<sup>5</sup>

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